St. Petersburg University Graduate School of Management

Master in Corporate Finance

COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF DIVIDEND POLICIES OF BRITISH AND AMERICAN COMPANIES

Master's Thesis by the 2nd year student

Concentration - Master in Corporate Finance

Alina Nizamieva

Research advisor:

Alexander V. Bukhvalov, Professor

St. Petersburg

2017

ЗАЯВЛЕНИЕ О САМОСТОЯТЕЛЬНОМ ХАРАКТЕРЕ ВЫПОЛНЕНИЯ ВЫПУСКНОЙ КВАЛИФИКАЦИОННОЙ РАБОТЫ

Я, Низамиева Алина Альфредовна, студентка второго курса магистратуры направления «Менеджмент», заявляю, что в моей магистерской диссертации на тему «Сравнительный анализ дивидендных политик американских и британских компаний», представленной в службу обеспечения программ магистратуры для последующей передачи в государственную аттестационную комиссию для публичной защиты, не содержится элементов плагиата.

Все прямые заимствования из печатных и электронных источников, а также из защищенных ранее выпускных квалификационных работ, кандидатских и докторских диссертаций имеют соответствующие ссылки.

Мне известно содержание п. 9.7.1 Правил обучения по основным образовательным программам высшего и среднего профессионального образования в СПбГУ о том, что «ВКР выполняется индивидуально каждым студентом под руководством назначенного ему научного руководителя», и п. 51 Устава федерального государственного бюджетного учреждения образовательного высшего образования «Санкт-Петербургский государственный университет» о том, что «студент подлежит отчислению из Санкт-Петербургского университета представление курсовой или выпускной за квалификационной работы, выполненной другим лицом (лицами)».

(Подпись студента)

(Дата)

STATEMENT ABOUT THE INDEPENDENT CHARACTER OF THE MASTER THESIS

I, Alina Nizamieva, second year master student, program «Management», state that my master thesis on the topic «Comparative Analysis of Dividend Policies of American and British companies» which is presented to the Master Office to be submitted to the Official Defense Committee for the public defense, does not contain any elements of plagiarism.

All direct borrowings from printed and electronic sources, as well as from master theses, PhD and doctorate theses which were defended earlier, have appropriate references.

I am aware that according to paragraph 9.7.1. of Guidelines for instruction in major curriculum programs of higher and secondary professional education at St.Petersburg University «A master thesis must be completed by each of the degree candidates individually under the supervision of his or her advisor», and according to paragraph 51 of Charter of the Federal State Institution of Higher Education Saint-Petersburg State University «a student can be expelled from St.Petersburg University for submitting of the course or graduation qualification work developed by other person (persons)».

(Student's signature)

(Date)

Автор	Низамиева Алина Альфредовна
Название магистерской диссертации	Сравнительный анализ дивидендных
	политик американских и британских
	компаний
Факультет	Высшая Школа Менеджмента
Направление подготовки	38.04.02 "Менеджмент"
	(Профиль: Корпоративные финансы)
Год	2017
Научный руководитель	Бухвалов Александр Васильевич
Описание цели, задач и основных	Цель данной магистерской диссертации
результатов	состоит в определении ключевых факторов,
	влияющих на дивидендные политики
	американских и британских компаний и их
	различий. Первая глава освящает основные
	типы дивидендных политик и предлагает
	факторы, которые могут влиять на них.
	Вторая глава посвящена эмпирическому
	анализу Американских и Британских
	компаний, включенных в индексы S&P 500
	или FTSE 100 и FTSE 250, а также
	"Дивидендных аристократов". Анализ
	представлен в страновом и индустриальном
	разрезе. Результаты работы показывают, что
	исследуемые компании ориентируются на
	текущую прибыль и прошлогодний
	коэффициент выплаты дивидендов при
	определении политики. Однако, британские
	компании также учитывают свои размеры
	определяемые активами компании, и налоги
	на дивиденды, тогда как в США компании
	смотрят на затраты на НИОКР.
	«дивидендные аристократы» ориентируются
	только на приоыль и прошлогодние
	выплаты, не принимая во внимание другие
<u> </u>	финансовые факторы и внешнюю среду.
ключевые слова	дивидендная политика, детерминанты,
	американские компании, оританские
	компании, дивидендные аристократы

аннотация

Master Student's Name	Alina A. Nizamieva
Master Thesis Title	Comparative Analysis of Dividend Policies of
	American and British companies
Faculty	Graduate School of Management
Main field of study	38.04.02 "Management"
	(specialization: Master of Corporate Finance)
Year	2017
Academic Advisor's Name	Aleksandr V. Bukhvalov
Description of the goal, tasks, and main	The goal of the master thesis is to analyze
results	factors influencing dividend policies and to
	explain reasons for the difference in American
	and British company's dividend policies. The
	first chapter focuses on the literature review and
	investigates different types of dividend policies
	and possible factors influencing them. The
	second part provides empirical study of
	American and British companies with the
	largest market capitalization included in S&P
	500 or FTSE 100 and FTSE 250 and the set of
	companies called Dividend Aristocrats. The
	paper presents dynamics of the dividend
	policies by country and industry. The main
	findings are that current earnings and preceding
	dividend payout ratio determine dividend
	policies in both countries. However, dividend
	policies of British companies are influenced by
	tax rates and firm's size, while American
	companies take into account research and
	development expenses. The difference is
	partially explained by the industry breakdown
	of the companies and institutional peculiarities.
	Companies from the list of Dividend Aristocrats
	currently seem to consider only the common
	factors regardless of external environment and
	other financial indicators.
Keywords	Dividend policy, determinants, American
	companies, British companies, Dividend
	Aristocrats

ABSTRACT

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	6
CHAPTER I. LITERATURE REVIEW	8
1.1. Types of dividend policies	
1.2 .THEORETICAL APPROACHES: BEHAVIORAL, SIGNALING, AGENCY COST MODELS	9
1.3. FACTORS INFLUENCING DIVIDEND POLICIES	
1.4. Selected dividend payout determinants	13
CHAPTER II. EMPIRICAL STUDY	21
2.1. DIVIDEND COMPARISON	21
2.1.1. Dividend payments in the U.K. and the U.S.	21
2.1.2. Dividend payments by Industry	23
2.2. DATA DESCRIPTION	27
2.2.1. Sample selection	27
2.2.2. Variables Description	
2.3. Methodology	
2.3.1. Model Specification and data testing	
2.3.2. Regression Specification	
2.4. RESULTS AND RESEARCH LIMITATIONS	
2.5. MANAGERIAL IMPLICATIONS	
CONCLUSION	40
BIBLIOGRAPHY	43
APPENDICES	48
APPENDIX 1. TAXES	
APPENDIX 2. INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATIONS	49
APPENDIX 3. USD/GBP ANNUAL EXCHANGE RATES	55
APPENDIX 4. LIST OF COMPANIES INCLUDED INTO DIVIDEND ARISTOCRATS	56
APPENDIX 5. REGRESSION DETAILS FROM STATA ANALYSIS	58

Introduction

Dividend policy is an essential part of company's strategy, because it defines not only how much return will the investors get, but also what part of earnings is reinvested into the company to ensure its stability of operations and growth. While deciding on how much to redistribute among shareholders as dividends and how much to leave in the company, managers pursue different strategies. Although extensive research was done on dividend policy determinants in general (Lintner, (1956) Marsh and Merton (1987), Fama and French (2001) Baker et al. (2001) to name a few), the difference between American and British companies was not thoroughly analyzed to the best knowledge of the author. Also, little research was conducted on Dividend Aristocrats, and mainly from the perspective of investment portfolio (Dash, 2005). Therefore, there exists a research gap on the dividend policy determinants of these three categories of companies.

The goal of the master thesis is to analyze factors influencing dividend policies and to explain reasons for the difference in American and British company's dividend policies.

The research questions are the following:

1. What are the types of a dividend policy?

2. What are the factors influencing a dividend policy?

3. Are dividend policies different across the countries and industries?

4. Which factors explain the difference in the U.S. and U.K. companies' dividends?

5. Which factors influence dividend policies of Dividend Aristocrats?

To determine what factors influence dividend policies of American and British companies, the list of hypotheses is compiled:

H_{1a}: past dividends are significant and have a positive effect on dividend payout ratio.

H_{1b}: past dividend payout ratio is significant and has a positive effect on dividend payout ratio.

H₂: Net income is significant and has a negative effect on dividend payout.

H₃: Research and development expenses have a negative effect on dividend payout ratio.

H₅: Cash flow has a positive effect on dividend payout.

H₄: Working capital is negatively related to dividend payout ratio.

H₆: Debt-to equity ratio negatively influences dividend payout ratio.

H₇: Dividend payout is positively affected by the size of the company.

H₈: Tax rates on dividends have a significant negative effect on dividend payout.

H₉: Cash has a positive effect on dividend payout.

H₁₀: the age of the company positively affects the dividend payout.

H₁₁: dividend payout ratio differs across the industries.

H₁₂: growth negatively affects dividend payout ratio.

The paper is divided in two chapters. The first chapter focuses on the literature review and investigates different types of dividend policies and possible factors influencing them. The second part provides empirical study of American and British companies with the largest market capitalization and the set of companies called Dividend Aristocrats. The paper presents dynamics of the dividend policies by country and industry. The main findings are that current earnings and preceding dividend payout ratio determine dividend policies in both countries. However, dividend policies of British companies are influenced by tax rates and firm's size, while American companies take into account research and development expenses. The difference is partially explained by the industry breakdown of the companies and institutional peculiarities. Companies from the list of Dividend Aristocrats currently seem to consider only the common factors regardless of external environment and other financial indicators.

CHAPTER I. LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1. Types of dividend policies

Dividend policy is a very important part of company's strategy, because it defines not only how much return will the investors get, but also what part of earnings is reinvested into the company to ensure its stability of operations and growth. While deciding on how much to redistribute among shareholders as dividends and how much to leave in the company, managers pursue different strategies. There are different classifications, for example described in Brealey et al., (2003), pp. 437-438. The paper focuses on cash dividends and investigates the main determinants of dividend policies. The following classification is used in this paper, based on terminology of Dhanani, (2005):

1. Constant dividend policy

A company chooses a fixed percentage of earnings to be paid as dividends. This policy is beneficial for investors and provides steady cash flows if the earnings of the company are stable. In volatile environment it is detrimental to shareholders due to high uncertainty and absence of dividends in case of company's losses.

2. Stable dividend policy

The dividends are determined at a certain level regardless the earnings and the firm decides to either maintain or increase the dividends. This strategy is good for investors because of smooth and predictable dividend stream, but at the same time shareholders do not enjoy additional payments in the good years.

3. Residual dividend policy

In this case the first priority is company's needs in terms of capitals expenditures and working capital, and the dividends are paid from what is rest. This type of policy is volatile, but is aimed at long-term growth because it puts first the business operations. Nevertheless, not all of the investors would agree to unpredictable cash flows.

4. No dividend

This type of policy is usually followed by newly listed companies that seek capital to expand and invest in different projects. Also, this strategy might be pursued when a company experiences crisis, but rarely a company would do that in the fear of losing investors. In this sense it is interesting to distinguish a certain type of companies called Dividend Aristocrats (S&P Dow Jones 2017). These are the companies included in S&P500 who have increased their dividends for the consecutive 25 years. Currently, this list includes 52 companies from different sectors and it is changing over time. This paper tries to investigate whether this policy is based on companies' financial success or it has other determinant factors.

1.2 .Theoretical approaches: behavioral, signaling, agency cost models

There are several classical approaches to dividend policies. The fundamental approaches, for example, are described in Lintner (1956) and Marsh and Merton (1987), it is classified as Dividend Behavioral Models.

Lintner in his model had shown that current dividends depend on past dividend payments, and that firms tend to pay stable dividends and set target payments based on that. He proposed an idea of dividend smoothing and the concept of speed of adjustment. His proposition was that the current dividends depend on last year's payout, current earnings, speed of adjustment, and current dividend payout ratio (target). He reveals that in general managers perceive dividend payout as an optimization problem: they rather use the existing as an anchor and adjust it according to their beliefs of how much should be paid out. The managers take into account needs of a company and interests of shareholders. The author also suggests that the managers are rather conservative and afraid to make changes that could be reversed in a year or so. That is why he talks about "partial adaptation". The model was successful in predicting dividends for American companies in the 50s, but later it was criticized, as it was built on the basis of aggregated data of the US companies and only 28 companies were closely analyzed, also the critique was that more factors that influence dividend policies are at play.

There are new models build on Lintner, for example, Garret and Priestley, (2000). This research again concerns dividend behavior and develops the idea proposed by classical papers that dividends are determined and adjusted according to stock price and permanent earnings, but here the focus is on target dividends, in other words, how managers set target rate based on available information. The article presents a new way of measuring unobserved permanent earnings with the help of Kalman filter. This research takes aggregated data rather than firm-specific one. The model is based on Lintner, (1956), but they find that the classical model penalizes any growth in dividends not equal to normal rate, even if the change actually brings

dividends to the target, and make adjustments to that. The authors reformulate dividends adjustments as a cost-minimization problem for managers. Another contribution of the paper is that it provides evidence that dividends already include the information about positive changes to current permanent earnings, as they already include expected changes in future. Therefore, these changes in dividends do not reflect future permanent earnings. Although the article provides methods for building a model on an aggregated data and results in interesting outcomes, it has not been tested on firm-specific data, as authors of the paper note themselves.

The classical Marsh-Merton Model (1987) connects dividends to an intrinsic value of a firm, which is expressed in fair-value share price. The model shows how short-term dividends are based on current and past share price, past dividends and how they move to long-run steady payout ratio (the model uses adjustment factors for this purpose).

The model was further developed, for example, by Kao and Wu, (1994). The research is built on Marsh-Merton Model and seeks to prove dividend signaling theory. First of all, the authors notice that previous attempts to find relationship between dividends and earnings with the help of time-series sometimes were statistically flawed, because dividends do not change quarterly as earnings do. That is why the results are biased to reveal little correlation between dividends and earnings. The new model integrates findings of Marsh and Merton in terms of dividend adjustment but also integrates signaling. They assume that the information that managers dispose is embedded in future earnings through managerial decisions. The new model allows accounting for abnormal dividends that are assumed to signal changes in permanent earnings of the company in the future. They authors also note that Marsh-Merton model is built on constantly changing stock prices and relatively stable dividend payments, which causes a problem in choosing appropriate time intervals. The solution is to use quarterly data. The main findings of the article prove that dividends reflect both expected and unexpected changes in earnings. Secondly, they show that changes in dividends reflect managerial view on future developments of the company. Thirdly, they provide evidence that signaling effectiveness depends on the firm-specific characteristics. Overall, authors suggest using the model to analyze informational content of dividends. The research also shows that dividend adjustment and signaling do not contradict each other.

Another approach to dividend policies is Dividend Signaling Models. The examples include Ross (1977), Bhattacharya (1979), Miller and Rock (1985), Bhushan (1989), Mozes and Rapaccioli (1995), and Grullon and Michaely (2002). These models state that the dividends act 10

as signals to investors. The idea behind the models is that managers' decision about dividend policy conveys information to the market about company's future cash flows. That is why it was believed that the companies prefer to have stable or growing dividends, because decreasing dividends would send a signal to the market that firm is experiencing problems. Another observation suggested by the models is that if a firm has another means of conveying information and more exposed to the market, it has fewer incentives to manipulate the dividends. Variables that are used in these theories are current and future earnings, company's size in terms of total assets or total sales.

The next group of theories is Agency Cost Models, also based on assumption of information asymmetry. These models were developed in Rozeff (1982), Mohd et al. (1995) and La Porta et al. (2000). It is assumed that by getting higher dividends the shareholders have more control over the company, as manages are left with fever resources to spend on unprofitable projects or personal use, and thus the agency cost is reduced. This approach explains why external shareholders might prefer dividends over retained earnings. These theories also tie dividend and investment policies, stating that paying dividends actually increases the marginal efficiency of investments in company's projects. The explanation is that due to the limited resources available managers will only choose highly profitable projects, and instead of developing bad projects that would eventually diminish the value of the company, the earnings will be distributed as dividends.

1.3. Factors influencing dividend policies

In this section previous research on dividend determinants is described in pursue of the following goals:

- To create a list of factors that could be included in the model;
- To investigate how the factors are interlinked;
- To set hypotheses about significance and influence of the indictors on dividend payout.

According to Lintner (1956), there are three main groups of factors influencing dividend policies. The first group includes country-specific factors (cultural differences in managers' attitudes, investors' preferences and macroeconomic conditions). The second group includes institutional factors (tax rates, corporate governance systems, industry). Lastly there are firm-

specific factors (i.e. firm size, age, growth rate, financial indicators, SOA, etc.). Nevertheless, in his analysis only company's income and previous dividend payments appear to be significant.

Fama and French (2001) find that the most important factors that influence decisions on dividend payouts are size of the company, profitability and investment opportunities. Among factors they study asset growth rate, research and development expenses adjusted to assets and market value of the company adjusted to assets as a measure of investment opportunities. They also study share repurchases as one of the determinants, but they appear to be unimportant.

Dhanani (2005) particularly studies managerial views on dividend policies of British companies. He analyzes several characteristics of the companies, size (logarithm of market value is taken as proxy), dent-to-equity ratio, industry, share price, growth in total assets, profitability and stock exchange status. The research is qualitative, because Dhanani conducted interviews with the managers and collects the data for only one year, and finds that size and industry influence managerial decisions.

Buchanan et al. (2017) investigate how personal dividend tax in the U.S. affects dividend payouts and how the companies adjust their long-term policies to uncertainty, especially when tax increases are expected. They find that firms pay extra dividends in the year prior to tax increase instead of cutting them when change in legislation comes to power. Therefore, taxes also influence dividend policies.

Ho (2003) compares dividend policies of Australian and Japanese companies and concludes that lower taxes on dividends in comparison to taxes on capital gains favor the former option of shareholder remuneration, and dividend payout is significantly higher than in Japan. The size of the company positively influences payout ratio in Australian companies, while liquidity is the major factor in Japan. The author also finds differences in dividends depending on the industry.

Shao et al. (2010) investigate how dividend policy is affected by leverage, growth of sales, profitability expressed by ROA, size measured by total assets and cash holdings. The authors take industries into account by adjusting the data to industry-year average. They find that return on assets and growth are the most influential factors among the companies studied.

Kaźmierska-Jóźwiak (2015) studies Polish companies from the perspective of dividend policy determinants. The hypotheses of the paper is that leverage, liquidity, return on equity, size

of the company and P/E ratio define the dividend payout. As a result, only return on equity and leverage have a significant negative effect on dividend payouts.

Jabbouri (2016) conducted an analysis of the companies on emerging markets. The research considers size, financial leverage, growth opportunities, profitability, past dividends, liquidity and free cash flow. The author concludes that all of the factors except past dividends are significant. However, this might happen because financial factors are linked and collinearity might take place (for example, both indicators size and growth opportunities are built on total assets; the former is constructed by taking a logarithm and the latter is the change of total assets over time).

The previous studies have not included a few factors that are crucial in opinion of the author: research and development expenditures and need for working capital. The hypothesis is that in short-term these factors restrict the earnings available for paying out dividends, but in the long-term assure stable growth and higher returns.

1.4. Selected dividend payout determinants

The variable that determines the dividend policy is dividend payout ratio. It is usually used in the research because it is a comprehensive measure of company's decisions on which part of the profit can be distributed as an immediate gain to shareholders and what should be left for further development and growth of the company. The dividend payout is calculated by the following formula:

Based on the literature the list of factors in question is formed.

1. Dividends for the previous year

There is an assumption that managers take into consideration dividend payments of the previous years and tend to maintain or increase them. For example, that is what Dividend Aristocrats are demonstrating, or other companies that establish stable or constant dividend policies. In this analysis two related factors are regarded. The first is the dividend payout ratio of the previous year, because it could be seen as a target for the current ratio. The second is the

monetary amount of dividends. Here they are represented by total common dividends paid in cash during the fiscal year, including special and extra dividends. It is assumed that there will be a strong positive relation between the payout and dividends for the previous year due to low speed of adjustment, therefore, the following hypothesis is proposed:

H_{1a}: past dividends are significant and have a positive effect on dividend payout ratio.

H_{1b}: past dividend payout ratio is significant and has a positive effect on dividend payout ratio.

2. Current earnings

There is uniformity in research that current earnings are a major factor influencing dividends, since that is the main source of cash for the payments. This is especially true if a firm follows the constant dividend policy. In particular, Pruitt and Gitman (1991) show the significance of current earnings for the American firms.

In this paper, current earnings are represented by a Thomson Reuters Datastream indicator Net Income available to common, in other words, an income net of expenses and obligations, like payment of preferred dividends, which a company uses to calculate dividends per share. Because dividend payout is calculated on the base of net income, a strong influence is also assumed. The factor is in the denominator of the formula, that explains why it is expected that the higher is the net income, the lower is the dividend payout ratio.

H₂: Net income is significant and has a negative effect on dividend payout.

3. Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses represent all costs, direct and indirect, that were incurred by a company to create and develop new techniques, processes, products with commercial possibilities and their applications. Research and development costs are an estimate of new projects a company has, and because dividends and research and development expenses could be seen as competitors for cash, a negative relation is expected.

H₃: Research and development expenses have a negative effect on dividend payout ratio.

4. Working capital

Working capital serves as a measure of liquidity in accounting terms and it is calculated as difference between current assets and current liabilities. The company will not be able to pay dividends if it is short of cash, even if the company is profitable. Several studies (see DeAngelo (2004) and Deshmukh (2003) for American companies) show that it is even more important, than earnings. Depending on how much a company needs for its operations, it allocates a certain amount of cash needed for further functioning and can spend the rest on dividends, if a company follows a residual dividend policy. Therefore, a negative influence on dividend payout is anticipated.

H₄: Working capital is negatively related to dividend payout ratio.

5. Cash Flow adjusted to earnings

Cash flow shows how much funds a company generates and as a consequence how much it can distribute to shareholders. In this paper, cash flows are adjusted to net sales or revenues, depending on the business model of a company. It is assumed that the greater is a cash flow, the higher is a dividend payout ratio.

H₅: Cash flow has a positive effect on dividend payout.

6. Debt-to-equity ratio

As was mentioned in previous research, debt to equity ratio is a measure of liquidity. This ratio is important to be included for several reasons. Firstly, it shows what sources of financing a company has as well as the amount of equity in company's capital structure on which dividends are paid. Secondly, an indebted company is less likely to pay dividends, because interest is prior to payments to shareholders. The company might do so voluntarily or because of the covenants and pressure from the debt holders. High leverage implies higher risk and therefore larger amount of interest payments. Another reason why a company with high leverage might want to cut dividends is because otherwise they will be recorded as retained earnings and added to equity, improving the debt-to-equity ratio. Therefore, a negative relation is expected (Papadopoulos and Charalambidis, 2007).

H₆: Debt-to equity ratio negatively influences dividend payout ratio.

7. Total Assets

Total Assets serve as a proxy for the size of the company. It is still debated whether the size of a firm determines the dividend policy positively or negatively. On the one hand, there is evidence supporting that statement, for example Jakob and Johannes (2008) find a positive

influence of firm's size on dividend payout. Rozeff (1982) explains that larger firms have more complex structure and in order to avoid agency problems they have to pay higher dividends. On the other hand, Jin (2000) argues that as firms grow in size, more information about them becomes publicly available. The information asymmetry between external and internal agents diminishes, and the signaling power of dividends decreases. Also the research shows that dividend announcements impact small companies stocks in a greater way, than in the big companies. Summarizing, depending on the theoretical approach to dividend distribution the size of the company can have diverse effects on its dividend policy. For clarity, we will formulate the hypothesis based on the more common view, and if the hypothesis is rejected, test the alternative. So, it is expected that higher total assets lead to higher dividends.

H₇: Dividend payout is positively affected by the size of the company.

8. Dividend tax rates

Dividend tax rates are usually analyzed in the context of choice how a company will remunerate the shareholders, via dividends or share repurchases (Grullon and Michaely, 2002). If tax rates are high in general or higher than the tax on capital gains, a company may prefer to exercise share repurchases or not to pay dividends at all. There are different dividend tax rates in both the U.S. and the U.K. (see Appendix 1), they depend on shareholder's income.

The author is aware that shareholders of British and American companies might not be necessarily tax residents of the U.K. and the U.S. respectively. However, the studies show that investors tend to choose shares of their domestic companies, this phenomenon is known as a home bias (French et al., 1991), (Gorman et al., 2015), (Lin et al., 2015). That is why it is assumed that the company primarily takes into account its domestic tax rates.

There are two main types of shareholders, individual and institutional, therefore there are different types of dividend taxes, individual and corporate respectively. This part of paper takes a glance of these indicators in the U.S. and the U.K.

U.S. personal dividend tax

Historically in the U.S. dividends were not taxed on individual level, from 1913 to 1953, except for the period from 1936 to 1939, when dividends were taxed as individual income as

high as 79%. After Internal Revenue Code was passed in 1954, dividends became fully taxable with the exempt of \$50-100 in different time periods. In certain periods the maximum tax rate stood at 90%. In 1986 Tax Reform Act was passed, and the maximum tax rate was decreased and varied between 28% and 39.6% in the period 1986 – 2003. In 2003, the Jobs and Growth Tax Relief Reconciliation Act came into power significantly lowering dividend taxes. Qualified dividends were taxed at the rate of long-term capital gains, i.e. 15%, while ordinary dividends were taxed at individual income rate, with the maximum of 35%. In 2005 further tax cuts at lower levels were introduced by Tax Increase Prevention and Reconciliation Act. However, in 2012 the tax cuts were not prolonged, which resulted in additional band of 20% tax for qualified and 39.6% tax for ordinary dividends. On top of the federal tax rate there are different state dividend taxes, ranging from 13.3% in California to 0% in Florida, Texas, Alaska and 4 other states. On average, personal tax rate on dividends constituted 28.6%.

U.S. corporate dividend tax

First corporate tax in the United States was introduced in 1861, but soon expired. After another unsuccessful attempt in 1894, an excise tax on corporations was enacted in 1909. The Tax Reform Act of 1986 established the corporate tax rate that is effective till present moment. When a company receives dividends it reports them as investment income in Profit and Loss Statement (or Income Statement). Depending on the type of the company (S or C corporation), dividends will be taxed at a certain level of corporate tax. Currently the minimum rate is equal to 15% and the maximum is 35%.

U.K. personal dividend tax

In the U.K., the dividends were always perceived as a part of personal income and are taxed at income tax rates in the last order (after non-savings income and savings income, at a higher band). So now, the dividend tax rate depends on the total income a person makes, as well as the age, types of shares (included in Individual Savings account or not), and several other factors. Since 1965 and until 2015 (with the exception of 1997-1999 when dividends were exempted from tax) to avoid double taxation there existed such a phenomenon as tax credits, which could be deducted from personal income taxes, making for example, base rate tax payers in fact exempt from tax on dividends. A new dividend taxation system introduced in 2016 has an exemption allowance of £5,000, but higher maximum tax rates.

U.K. corporate dividend tax

The corporate tax in the United Kingdom was introduced by Finance Act of 1965, before that the companies were taxed at the same level as individuals. The initial corporate tax rate was 40%, and has changed several times according to the budget needs (the highest rate of 52% in 1973 and the lowest of 25% in 1983-1988). In 1999 the single rate was replaced by several bands, and companies making profits under £10,000 did not have to pay income tax. The main rate has decreased from 28% in 2008 to 19% in 2017. There is a scheduler system in the U.K. which means that the source of income matters. For example, dividends received from other British companies have a schedule F (after the income from the U.K. land and other taxable income). Interestingly enough, in practice most of the companies are exempted from Schedule F.

To take into account both types of stakeholders and different tax bands the author uses OECD effective dividend tax rate, that is calculated based on both personal and institutional taxes paid on dividends. The author is aware that shareholders of British and American companies might not be necessarily tax residents of the U.K. and the U.S. respectively. However, the studies show that investors tend to choose shares of their domestic companies, this phenomenon is known as a home bias (French et al., 1991), (Gorman et al., 2015), (Lin et al., 2015). That is why it is assumed that the company primarily takes into account its domestic tax rates.

H₈: Tax rates on dividends have a significant negative effect on dividend payout.

9. Cash

Even if a company records high profits, it would not be able to pay dividends without cash on hand. This variable represents cash held by a company as current assets. Of course, a company can borrow sources to finance the dividends, but this involves additional costs. The assumption is that the more cash is available for the company, the higher are the dividends.

H₉: Cash has a positive effect on dividend payout.

10. Years of operation

This parameter is linked to several other factors and can diversely affect the dividends. Usually the older the company is, the larger it is. As was discussed earlier, a company can pay lower dividends because of lower information asymmetry. Or, oppositely, it has to overcome larger agency cost and maintain its status if it has paid high dividends in the past. In addition, years of operation imply the stage of a company's life cycle. A young company is less likely to pay high dividends, because it has to develop and invest in growth and new projects. Established companies can afford to pay higher dividends, since the processes are aligned, different sources of financing for new projects are available, profits in general are higher. For the old companies, the impact of age on dividend payout is not straightforward. From signaling perspective a company might continue to pay high dividends if it did so in the past. At the same time, as time goes by new companies enter the market, older firms face competition from them. Because big and old companies are less flexible and harder to transform and renovate, they need more resources to compete.

In previous studies it is suggested to classify companies according to their age (Evans, 1987), (Loderer, 2009) and use categorical variables. The age of the company is supposed to positively affects dividends, but the year it was incorporated, on the contrary, has a negative effect (the larger is the number, the less are the dividends). The same applies to the number of the category.

In addition to that, the author presents an alternative method of presenting the age. Since it is assumed that age affects dividends positively for young and middle aged firms and the relation for old firms is not obvious, two additional variables were introduced. First is the age of the company and the second is age squared. If there is only positive effect, then the second variable will be insignificant. If there is a downward trend in dividend payout as firms get older, then age squared will be significant. The author formulates main hypothesis:

H₁₀: the age of the company positively affects the dividend payout.

11. Industry

Many researchers suggest that the industry a company operates in has an impact on its dividend policy (Dhanani, 2005), (Baker et al., 2001). Here the ICB code industry classification is used because it is applicable to both American and British firms. The main groups are presented below, a full table with industry descriptions can be found in Appendix 2. The first number indicates the classification in this paper, while the number in parenthesis is a full industry code.

0: Oil and Gas (0001)

1: Basic Materials (1000)

2: Industrials (2000)

3: Consumer goods (3000)

4: Health Care (4000)

5: Consumer Services (5000)

6: Telecommunications (6000)

7: Utilities (7000)

8: Financials (8000)

9: Technology (9000)

Financial and Utility companies (codes 7 and 8) were excluded from the sample. The assumption is that there is a difference across the industries in dividend payouts.

H₁₁: dividend payout ratio differs across the industries.

12. Growth

This indicator is also linked to the company's lifecycle, and dividends depend on growth and investment potential of a company. Fast growing companies have a tendency to retain earnings inside the firm instead of resorting to other sources of financing. Slow growth firms can afford to pay larger dividends. There is an assumption that legal system may affect preferences of the shareholders, i.e. they might prefer current earnings to future growth if they are unsure of protection of the future cash flows. Since both the U.K. and U.S. have established legal systems with shareholder protection, it is unlikely that shareholders will demand for immediate gain only for this reason. Therefore, it is expected that growth is negatively related to the dividend payout.

H₁₂: growth negatively affects dividend payout ratio.

CHAPTER II. EMPIRICAL STUDY

2.1. Dividend comparison

This section presents an overview of dividend payments form the country and industry perspective. The paper also examines Dividend Aristocrats, who are listed on S&P and therefore included in the sample of American companies. The overview will allow detecting general trends and how the macro factors described in the previous section have affected dividend policies of the companies.

2.1.1. Dividend payments in the U.K. and the U.S.

The chart below summarizes cash dividend payments of American and British firms and Dividend Aristocrats for the period from 1990 to 20016. The indicator was calculated based on the data for the companies who decided to pay dividends for the year (if a company was included in the sample bud decided not to distribute dividends in particular year, it was excluded from the calculations). Dividends of the British firms were converted into dollar equivalent based on the average USD/GBP exchange rate for the corresponding year, the figures are presented in Appendix 3.



Figure 1. Average cash dividends source: Thomson Reuters

American companies have on average paid higher dividends in the given period that the U.K. firms. There is a peak in 2005, one of the reasons that could explain it is the new dividend tax regulation passed in 2003. Interestingly enough, the tax change did not seem to affect Dividend Aristocrats' policies. Dividends of the U.S. companies show steady linear growth over the period with an exception of the year 2005-2006. DA dividends show exponential growth, around 10% annually, as could be derived from the Chart 2. At the same time, dividends of the British companies increase slowly and with year-to-year fluctuations. The difference in the dollar amount of cash dividends between the countries could be explained, among other, by the size of the firms. American entities in the sample are larger in general, receive higher revenues and that leads to higher cash dividends.



Figure 2. Average dividend growth rates source: Thomson Reuters

On the contrary, in comparison to American companies British firms pay larger portion of their earnings as dividends during the given period. The difference is the highest in 1998 – 2006. In 1997-1999 individuals were exempted from tax on dividends, which was followed by a rise in the payout ratio. In 2002 there is a downward trend that could be partially explained by Capital Allowances Act of 2001 and Income Tax Act of 2003. The influence of the last financial

crisis could be traced on the graph. Since 2010, companies of the both countries have increased their dividend payout ratios.



Figure 3. Dividend payout ratios source: Thomson Reuters

This paper investigates influence of several factors on dividend payout ratio using panel regression models. As recommended in Wooldridge (2010), due to panel data specifics it is not recommended to use more than 10 years of consecutive observations. Because of that and also for the sake of comparativeness further research is performed on the data from 2010 to 2016, excluding the years of crisis.

2.1.2. Dividend payments by Industry

Common dividends

In the samples analyzed, both in the U.K. and the U.S. oil and gas companies (code 0) pay the highest cash dividends in comparison to other industries, exceeding multiple times.¹

¹ Note: utility firms (code 7) and financial firms (code 8) were excluded from the analysis. For the U.S. due to the missing data companies from telecommunications industry (code 6) were excluded from the analysis



Figure 4. U.K. common dividends by industry source: Thomson Reuters



Figure 5. U.S. common dividends by industry source: Thomson Reuters

It could be also seen from the charts 6 and 7 that on average there is a difference between dividend payments by industry. Apart from oil and gas companies, in the U.K. the next three highest paying in absolute value types of companies are from consumer goods, telecommunications and consumer services. In comparison, in the U.S. those are technology, health care and consumer goods, although differentiation is not as vivid.



Figure 6. U.K. common dividends by industry without oil and gas companies source: Thomson Reuters



Figure 7. U.S. common dividends by industry without oil and gas companies source: Thomson Reuters

Dividend payout ratios

Payout ratios of British companies do not seem to follow certain trends. Telecommunication companies on average have higher payout, although in the last year they are being challenged by technological companies. Consumer goods and consumer services companies tend to increase their payout ratios during the given period. The lowest dividend payout ratio is, on average, in the health care sector.



Figure 8. U.K. common dividends by industry source: Thomson Reuters

American companies are more homogenous in terms of dividend payout ratios, because they show less variation and general positive trend. In the sample studied consumer good companies have the highest payout ratio, although in 2015-2016 technological and oil and gas firms have not significantly different payouts.



Figure 9. U.S. common dividends by industry source: Thomson Reuters

2.2. Data description

2.2.1. Sample selection

The initial sample of the American companies was based on the companies included in S&P500. The British companies were selected from FTSE 100 and FTSE 250, the Dividend Aristocrats were taken from The S&P 500 Dividend Aristocrats index. After that, all the financial and utility companies were removed from the sample, as suggested by many research papers on dividends (Baker et al., 1985), (Dhanani, 2005), (Fama and French 2001). The final list includes 200 British companies, 238 American companies and 48 Dividend Aristocrats. The criteria provided below were applied for sample selection:

- The company has paid dividends during the period observed;
- The company has a positive net income and positive debt-to-equity ratio (the equity is valued positively on the market);
- For each company-year observation, maximum of one value for independent variable is missing.

Several sources were used to collect the data. The company-specific data is found in Thomson Reuters DataStream databases and financial statements of the companies as well as information provided by S&P 500 and FTFE. Tax rates are found on governmental official websites (ww.gov.uk and www.irs.com) and OECD database.

Taking into consideration historical data analysis like overview of tax reforms and influence of the crisis of 2007-2009 as well as technical requirements for panel regressions, the data for 2010-2016 was analyzed to make the samples comparable.

In addition, for the sake of homogeneity and comparativeness absolute values of several variables were normalized (net income, total assets, cash dividends, cash, working capital, research and development expenses). The author follows the process described in DeAngelo (1990). By normalizing the author means assigning the value of 1 to the maximum number among one company and one factor (i.e. among 7 observations of 1 parameter, for example, net income of company A for years 2010-2016) and scaling the rest of 6 observations against it. Another reason for normalization is because the dependent variable and other variables (tax, growth, debt-to-equity ratio) are presented on a scale from 0 to 1 or as per cents. If determinants were not normalized, regression coefficients would differ more than 1000 times. Yet another

reason for normalization is that it partially solves the problems of heteroskedasticity and multicollinearity.

The figures below present the breakdown of the samples by i ndustries. The U.K. sample is presented by Industrials – 30%, Consumer Services – 25%, Consumer Goods – 18%, Basic materials – 8%, Technology – 7%. In the U.S. samle Industrials constitute 28% of the sample, Consumer Goods – 20%, Technology – 18%, Consumer Services – 15%, Health Care – 10%.



Figure 10. U.K. companies breakdown by industry source: author's calculations



Figure 10. U.S. companies breakdown by industry source: author's calculations

2.2.2. Variables Description

The model contains eleven variables in total and analyzes the influence of ten factors on dividend payout. A table below summarizes the list of variables, brief description and expected influence on the dependent variable, an extended description could be found below the table:

Table 1. Variable description

№	Variable	Description	Method of calculation or source	Expected effect on dependent variable		
	Dependent variable					
1.	payout	Dividend payout ratio	Common Dividends (Cash) / (Net Income – Bottom Line – Preferred Dividend Requirement) * 100			
	1	Ind	ependent variables			
2.	CDnorm	Common dividends paid in cash	Balance sheet	positive		
	lpayout	Payout in the previous year (lagged)	as payout	positive		
3.	NInorm	Net income available to common	Income statement	negative		
4.	RDnorm	Research & development expenses	Income statement	negative		
5.	WCnorm	Working capital	Current Assets – Current Liabilities	negative		
6.	CFtoSales	Cash flow adjusted to net sales or revenues	Cash Flow/Net Sales*100	positive		
7.	DE	Debt-to-equity ratio	Debt/Book Equity*100	negative		
8.	TAnorm	Total assets	Balance sheet	positive		
9.	Tax	Overall effective dividend tax rate	OECD database	negative		
10.	Cashnorm	Cash	Balance sheet	positive		
11.	age	Age of the company	Year of Observation – Year of Incorporation	positive/negative		
	g	Growth rate	(Total Assets – Total Assets _{t-1})/	negative		

			Total Assets _{t-1}	
12.	ind _i , i=0-9	Dummy variables for industries	ICB codes	-

2.3. Methodology

2.3.1. Model Specification and data testing

In general, initial model specification is the following:

$$payout_{it} = \alpha + \beta_{1} * payout_{it-1} + \beta_{2} * NInorm_{it} + \beta_{3} * RDnorm_{it} + \beta_{4} * TAnorm_{it} + \beta_{5} * g_{it} + \beta_{6} * tax_{it} + \beta_{7} * WCnorm_{it} + \beta_{8} * CFtoSales_{it} + \beta_{9} * DE_{it} + \beta_{10} * Cashnorm_{it} + \beta_{11} * age_{it} + \beta_{12-21} * Industry_{it} + e_{it}$$

$$(2)$$

Where:

- *i* represents a company;
- $t = \{2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016\};$
- Variables are as described in previous section, Industry represents a sed of dummy variables for industries;
- *e* is an error term.

Before the general regression is tested, presence of mediators and moderators has to be studied. For example, one of the assumptions is that net income and cash can have an influence on research and development expenses (a company is less likely to invest in R&D if it does not have sufficient resources). This statement could be considered as true, because the net income of last year (variable NI_{t-1}) and cash of last year (variable $cash_{t-1}$) do influence research and development expenses of the current year. Full results of regressions are presented in the Appendix 5.

Variable	Beta coefficient	Standard error	
Net Income _{t-1}	0.0074**	0.00311	
Cash _{t-1}	-0.039***	0.0147	
Model significance			
R-squared overall	0.2528	(within = 0.1084 , between = 0.5616)	
P-value	0.0034		

Table 2. Influence of previous year net income and cash on R&D expenses

Here and later in the paper asterisks represent the level of significance:

- β_i^{***} significant at 1% level;
- β_i^{**} significant at 5% level;
- β_i^* significant at 10% level;
- β_i not significant.

However, current net income and cash do not have a significant effect on research and development expenses of the current year:

Table 3. Influence of current year net income and cash on R&D expenses

Variable	Beta coefficient	Standard error		
Not Income	0.0017	0.0051		
Net Income	0.0047	0.0051		
Cash	0.0159	0.0245		
Model significance				
R-squared overall	0.3905			
P-value	0.4414 -not significant			

Therefore, because the regression and the coefficients are not significant and are not correlated, as shown in the Table 4, these variables can be included in the regression.

	NInorm	RDnorm	WCnorm	Cashnorm	TAnorm
NInorm	1.0000				
RDnorm	0.1514	1.0000			
WCnorm	0.0047	0.2547	1.0000		
Cashnorm	0.1383	0.1138	0.2056	1.0000	
TAnorm	0.3354	0.3582	-0.0538	0.2345	1.0000

Table 4. Correlation matrix for U.K. data

The level of correlation between the variables is acceptable for the U.K. data. Nevertheless, inclusion of total assets is under consideration in the U.S. sample for two reasons. First of all, they have the highest levels of correlation with other variables, so there is a chance that the results of the regression might be biased. Secondly, the effects of total assets on dividend payout are captured by other variables. For example, net income, cash and working capital are related to total assets from the accounting point of view. Furthermore, total assets serve as a proxy for company's size, which is related to the maturity and stage of a life cycle of a company. This can be covered by such indicators as age and growth rate, the latter is calculated on the base of total assets.

For the same reason cash dividends were excluded. They are correlated with net income and cash and also payout for the previous year is a more suitable measure for the purpose of the research.

2.3.2. Regression Specification

Several papers were studied to determine a suitable method of data analysis. Researchers like Lintner (1956), Holder et al. (1998), Ho (2003), Loderer et al. (2009), Kaźmierska-Jóźwiak (2015), Jabbouri (2016) use panel regressions and treat determinant factors equally, while Erkan et al. (2016) and Ozkaya et al. (2013) use hierarchical linear modeling, that controls for within-group homogeneity (Short et al., 2007), in other words, they analyze dividend policies at three different levels: company, industry and country. Despite all of the advantages of HLM, in this paper panel regressions will be used for several reasons. Firstly, there are firms from only two countries that are analyzed separately. Also, this research does not study cultural impact on firms' decision-making, nevertheless, previous studies show that the U.K. and the U.S.A. have

similar values, cultural heritage and legal systems for the purpose of our research (Shao et. al., 2010, Aguilera et. al., 2006). The only institutional factor analyzed is the taxation level.

For each sample (British companies, American Companies and Dividend Aristocrats) fixed effects regressions and random effects regressions were built and compared using Hausman test. The results for each sample are discussed below.

The U.K. Companies

For the sample of British companies Hausman test indicated that random effects regression better describes the results. The coefficients and their significance are presented in the Table 5, full results of the regression are presented I the Appendix 5. The significant indicators are:

- Net income (on 1% level), negative effect;
- Total assets (on 1% level), positive effect;
- Previous year payout ratio (on 1% level), positive effect;
- Tax (on 5% level), negative effect.

T 11 7	р .	1.	C (1	D 1	~ ·
Table 5	Regreggion	reculte	tor the	Britich	(omnaniec
raute J.	Regression	results	ioi uic	DIRISH	Companies
	0				1

Variable	Beta coefficient	Standard error
Payout _{t-1}	0.47***	0.06
Net Income	-23.94***	5.25
Total Assets	17.71***	6.77
Tax	-0.72**	0.34
R&D	-6.30	4.63
Cash	4.72	4.35
Debt-to-equity ratio	0.04	0.03
Growth rate	0.62	3.49
Age	-0.06	0.14
Industry	0.74	0.64
constant	52.90***	17.9

Model significance			
R-squared overall	0.3939	(within = 0.2096, between = 0.7274)	
P-value	0.0000		

Model takes the following form:

$$payout_{it} = 52.9 + 0.47 * payout_{it-1} - 23.9 * NInorm_{it} + 17.7 * TAnorm_{it} - 0.7 * tax_{it}$$
(3)

The U.S. companies

The Hausman test results suggest random effects specification for the sample. Table 6 summarizes the results, more information could be found in Appendix 5. Dividend payout determinants for the U.S. companies are:

- Net income (on 1% level), negative effect;
- Research and development expenses (on 1% level), positive effect;
- Rrevious year payout ratio (on 1% level), positive effect;

Model takes the following form:

$$payout_{it} = 0.67 * lpayout_{it-1} - 30.31 * NInorm_{it} + 6.30 * RDnorm_{it}$$
 (4)

Variable	Beta coefficient	Standard error
Payout _{t-1}	0.67***	0.03
Net Income	-30.21***	3.00
R&D	6.30***	2.35
Tax	43.81	29.72
Cash	-3.83	1.45
Debt-to-equity ratio	0.02	0.01
Growth rate	-2.68	4.14
Age	0.05	0.06
	1	

 Table 6. Regression results for American companies

constant	4.55	15.6
	Model significance	
R-squared overall	0.5835	(within = 0.2838 , between = 0.7925)
P-value	0.0000	

Interestingly, the sign for the research and development expenses is the opposite of what was expected. Possible explanation of why R&D expenses positively affect payout is that if a company grows its profits in general, it can increase both payout and R&D expenses. Besides, it depends on the cost structure of the company. If the company does not need have relatively high SGA expenses (Selling, General and Administrative expenses), or capital expenditures like property, plant and equipment, and this allows the company to invest more in R&D. Also, the pace of growth should be compared between payout and R&D expenses.

Dividend aristocrats

Here random effects regression is used again, as suggested by Hausman test. Significance of regressors and coefficients are presented in the Table 7.

The significant indicators are:

- Net income (on 5% level), negative effect;
- Previous year payout ratio (on 1% level), positive effect.

Table 7. Regression results for Dividend Aristocrats

Variable	Beta coefficient	Standard error
Payout _{t-1}	0.53***	0.12
Net Income	-7.48**	3.14
R&D	1.90	1.80
Tax	107.6	58.2
Cash	2.91	1.64
Debt-to-equity ratio	0.03	0.04

Growth rate	3.37	3.23
Working Capital	-2.38	2.11
constant	32.9	43.5
	Model significance	
R-squared overall	0.4484	(within = 0.3978, between = 0.6521)
P-value	0.0000	

Model takes the following form:

$$payout_{it} = 0.53 * payout_{it-1} - 7.5 * logNI_{it}$$

$$\tag{5}$$

For Dividend Aristocrats only net income and previous payout are important. As was seen on the charts, Dividend Aristocrats are less prone to changes in taxes and other turbulences. Since their dividend policy is built on maintaining and increasing the dividends, the results are rather expected.

2.4. Results and Research Limitations

The goal of this paper was to compare dividend policies of the American and British companies and to investigate their determinants. As a result, it was found that the dividend policies of the countries studied are influenced by different factors. The common determinants are current earnings and dividend payout ratio for the previous year. This result was expected and described many than 60 years ago by Lintner (1956) and many followers. It is evident that dividends depend on current earnings, since without the source of income a company is unable to pay the dividends. The dividend payout ratio serves as a proxy to determine the indicator of the current year. Usually the changes in company's performance are rarely drastic, that is why only small adjustments are made from year to year.

Nevertheless, there are differences in the factors influencing dividend payouts. In the U.K., another two significant determinants are total assets, which are a proxy for the size of the company, and tax rates. Total assets are related to many other indicators like the company's stage of the life cycle, growth, need for capital investments and liquidity and so on. The results show

that the bigger the company is, the higher dividends it is willing to pay. This is especially true for the industry breakdown of the country. Industrials, Cosumer Goods (including Automobiles, Food and Beverage producers, construction materials and etc.), Basic Materials and Technology constitute 63% of the sample. These companies tend to possess large amount of property, plant and equipment, and Consumer Goods companies also have large stocks of produce. The highest payout is seen in Telecommunications and the highest dividends in Oil & Gas, both industries require a lot of capital investments and possession of assets. Another factor the dividend payout is sensitive to is tax rates. The effective tax rates have fluctuated during 2010-2016, and payout was adjusted accordingly.

American companies differ from the British ones because the determinants of their dividend policies are research and development expenses. This is supported by the industry breakdown. Technology, Industrials and Health Care companies account for 56% of the sample. Also, it is logical in terms of the highest dividend-paying industries, Technology and Oil & Gas. Both industries invest a lot in R&D to find new methods and technologies to extract and refine crude oil, for example. The United States are also known as one of the leading countries in technology with its Silicon Valley and booming «unicorn» companies. Nevertheless, the author wants to highlight the fact that the results are specifically describe the sample, but not necessarily describe the situation on the whole American market. Total Assets were excluded from the model because of the technical issues (high collinearity with another important factor – net income). The reason why taxes did not have a significant effect on the payout ratio may also lie in technical aspects of data analysis. Because there was only one change in tax rates during the period, the regression specification was not sencible enough to capture this change. The diagram below presents the difference of the tax rates I the U.K. and U.S. in the given period.



Figure 11. Tax rates in the U.S. and U.K. source: OECD database

Another interesting phenomenon investigated in this paper is the set of American companies called Dividend Aristocrats. These companies have shown steady growth in their dividends for the past 25 consecutive years. The analysis shows that the growth is stable and fluctuates around 10% annually, regardless the macro effects. The research did not show major influence of any other financial factors on dividend policies. If the dividend policy is a coherent element of a company's sustainable development and it is aligned with investment policy and overall strategy, there is no problem with gradually increasing dividends. Nevertheless, these companies have to be aware of the external environment and be prepared to react to challenges.

The results of the work show that companies are still quite reluctant to dramatically change their dividend policies and revise it annually. One of the suggestions for further research would be to analyze the speed of adjustment of the dividend policies and their determinants. Also, this research was dedicated to a limited number of factors, which could be extended, for example, by analysis of cultural environment and managers and investors' behavior and expectations. Yet another limitation of the research is that it was conducted on a limited set of data, so the samples could be broadened. Lastly, the results of this research might not be applicable for other markets.

2.5. Managerial Implications

Dividend policy is a very important aspect of every company's strategy. The question of an optimal dividend strategy that would both satisfy the shareholders and allow a company to develop and prosper has been studied for decades but is yet unresolved. This paper made an attempt to determine the factors that influence dividend policies of the most successful companies whose stocks are traded on the largest exchange platforms and who have the highest market capitalization and are included in S&P 500 or FTSE 100 and FTFE 250.

From the managerial perspective the findings are useful for the boards of directors of the companies analyzed. Depending on a country and industry different factors will come at play. Currently the companies are quite conservative and make their decisions mainly based on firm's earnings and previous dividend payout ratio as a target. Nevertheless, there are other important determinants to consider like taxes, size of a company or need for investment into research and development. It is especially important for the top management of Dividend Aristocrats, whose dividend policies do not take any of these factors into consideration in the meantime.

Shareholders of these companies can also benefit from this research. Knowing the dividend policy determinants reduces information asymmetry and agency costs. When the reasoning behind a particular dividend policy can be traced a shareholder can be reassured that the managers act in the interests of the company. A shareholder can also better understand the tradeoff between immediate gains in the form of dividends and long-term sustainable growth of the company.

The results could be also interesting for American or British companies who decide to go public (do an IPO) and have to set their dividend policy, although the company does not have to pay dividends in the first years (that could be also viewed as no dividend policy). The experience of the leading companies can be passed down to the newcomers with the adjustments to industry and country specifics. Although the determinants may differ, this analysis gives a base and methodology for further research.

Lastly, the results can give an insight for investors who decide to build their portfolio based on American and British companies' stocks. The investors can conduct fundamental analysis of the companies and pay special attention to the factors indicated by the research to receive higher dividends.

Conclusion

Dividend policy is a crucial part of company's strategy, and it has to be aligned with investment and financial policies to assure sustainable growth and development of a company. The companies may decide to set a fixed amount of dividend payments regardless other factors, base them as a percentage of earnings, pay what's rest after the company's needs for investment were covered or prefer not to pay dividends at all. This research investigates most common practices and determines factors that influence dividend decisions of British and American companies.

The common determinants for both countries are current earnings and dividend payout ratio for the previous year. It is evident that dividends depend on current earnings, since without the source of income a company is unable to pay the dividends. The dividend payout ratio serves as a proxy to determine the indicator of the current year. Usually the changes in company's performance are rarely drastic, that is why only small adjustments are made from year to year. Additional dividend determinants are different for the American and British companies.

Total Assets

British companies also take into account total assets, which are a proxy for the size of the company. Total assets are related to many other indicators like the company's stage of the life cycle, growth, need for capital investments and liquidity and so on. The results show that the bigger the company is, the higher dividends it is willing to pay. This is especially true for the industry breakdown of the country. Industrials, Cosumer Goods (including Automobiles, Food and Beverage producers, construction materials and etc.), Basic Materials and Technology constitute 63% of the sample. These companies tend to possess large amount of property, plant and equipment, and Consumer Goods companies also have large stocks of produce. The highest payout is seen in Telecommunications and the highest dividends in Oil & Gas, both industries require a lot of capital investments and possession of assets.

For the sample of American companies this factor had to be excluded fro the regression due to high collinearity with Net Income. Because Net Income has a higher impact on dividend payout and is a direct determinant, total assets were omitted.

Dividend tax rates

Another factor that the dividend payout ratio is sensitive to is tax rate. The effective tax rates in the U.K. have fluctuated during 2010-2016, and payout was adjusted accordingly. The reason why tax rates in the U.S. did not have a significant effect on the payout ratio may also lie in technical aspects of data analysis. Because there was only one change in tax rates during the period, the regression specification was not sencible enough to capture this change. More extensive research is needed on different time periods to investigate the signignificance of tax rates.

Research and Development expenses

The U.S. companies seem to put their investment needs first, because the determinants of their dividend policies are research and development expenses. This is supported by the industry breakdown. Technology, Industrials and Health Care companies account for 56% of the sample. Also, it is logical in terms of the highest dividend-paying industries, Technology and Oil & Gas. Both industries invest a lot in R&D to find new methods and technologies to extract and refine crude oil, for example. The United States are also known as one of the leading countries in technology with its Silicon Valley and booming «unicorn» companies. Nevertheless, the author wants to highlight the fact that the results are specifically describe the sample, but not necessarily describe the situation on the whole American market. The sample of the U.K. companies is characterized by more traditional industries, that is why the model did not show the significance of research and development expenses.

Dividend Aristocrats have shown steady growth in their dividends for the past 25 consecutive years. The analysis shows that the growth is stable and fluctuates around 10% annually, regardless the macro effects. The research did not show major influence of any other financial factors on dividend policies. If the dividend policy is a coherent element of a company's sustainable development and it is aligned with investment policy and overall strategy, there is no problem with gradually increasing dividends. Nevertheless, these companies have to be aware of the external environment and be prepared to react to challenges.

To summarize, companies are rather conservative when it comes to dividend decisions, as main determinants are the target payout ratio and current earnings. The samples of the companies put restrictions on the research results. Because only the companies with the highest market capitalization were analyzed, they do not reflect the results of the American and British markets in general.

Suggestions for further research include the analysis the speed of adjustment of the dividend policies and their determinants to prove the finding that the companies are indeed conservative and base the dividend policy on current earnings and past dividend payouts. Also, this research was dedicated to a limited number of factors, which could be extended, for example, by analysis of cultural environment and managers and investor's behavior and expectations. Also, the research could be extended to a broadened number of companies and time periods. Lastly, the model of this research might be applied to other markets.

The findings can be of a great use to the board of directors and shareholders of the companies' analyzed as well as outsiders. Board of directors may consider including other factors, like firm's size, research and development expenses and taxes while deciding on dividend policy. Shareholders will benefit from reduction of information asymmetry and agency costs because of better understanding of underlying factors. American and British companies who decide to go public and establish dividend policy can look at the experience of the leading companies with the adjustments to industry and country specifics. Lastly, the results can give an insight for investors who decide to build their portfolio based on American and British companies' stocks.

Bibliography

- Aguilera, Ruth V., Cynthia A. Williams, John M. Conley, and Deborah E. Rupp. "Corporate governance and social responsibility: A comparative analysis of the UK and the US." *Corporate Governance: An International Review* 14, no. 3 (2006): 147-158.
- 2. Baker, H. Kent, E. Theodore Veit, and Gary E. Powell. "Factors influencing dividend policy decisions of Nasdaq firms." Financial Review 36, no. 3 (2001): 19-38.
- Baker, Malcolm, and Jeffrey Wurgler. "A catering theory of dividends." *The Journal of Finance* 59, no. 3 (2004): 1125-1165.
- Banerjee, Suman, Vladimir A. Gatchev, and Paul A. Spindt. "Stock market liquidity and firm dividend policy." *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 42, no. 02 (2007): 369-397.
- Bhargava, Alok. "An econometric analysis of dividends and share repurchases by US firms." *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A (Statistics in Society)* 173, no. 3 (2010): 631-656.
- 6. Bhattacharya, Sudipto. "Imperfect information, dividend policy, and "the bird in the hand" fallacy." Bell journal of economics 10, no. 1 (1979): 259-270.
- Bhushan, Ravi. "Firm characteristics and analyst following." Journal of Accounting and Economics 11, no. 2 (1989): 255-274.
- 8. Brealey, Richard A., Stewart C. Myers, Franklin Allen, and Pitabas Mohanty. Principles of corporate finance. Tata McGraw-Hill Education, 2003.
- 9. Brennan, Michael J., and Anjan V. Thakor. "Shareholder preferences and dividend policy." The Journal of Finance 45, no. 4 (1990): 993-1018.
- Buchanan, Bonnie G., Cathy Xuying Cao, Eva Liljeblom, and Susan Weihrich.
 "Uncertainty and firm dividend policy—A natural experiment." *Journal of Corporate Finance* 42 (2017): 179-197.
- 11. Dash, S. "Introducing the S&P500 Dividend Aristocrats Index." (2005).
- DeAngelo, Harry, and Linda DeAngelo. "Dividend policy and financial distress: An empirical investigation of troubled NYSE firms." *The Journal of Finance* 45, no. 5 (1990): 1415-1431.
- DeAngelo, Harry, Linda DeAngelo, and Douglas J. Skinner. "Are dividends disappearing? Dividend concentration and the consolidation of earnings." Journal of financial economics 72, no. 3 (2004): 425-456.

- Deshmukh, Sanjay. "Dividend initiations and asymmetric information: A hazard model." Financial Review 38, no. 3 (2003): 351-368.
- Dhanani, Alpa. "Corporate dividend policy: the views of British financial managers." Journal of Business Finance & Accounting 32, no. 7–8 (2005): 1625-1672.
- 16. Dickens, Ross N., K. Michael Casey, and Joseph A. Newman. "Bank dividend policy: explanatory factors." *Quarterly journal of Business and Economics*(2002): 3-12.
- Dickerson, Andrew P., Heather D. Gibson, and Euclid Tsakalotos. "Takeover risk and dividend strategy: a study of UK firms." *The Journal of Industrial Economics* 46, no. 3 (1998): 281-300.
- Erkan, Asligul, Stav Fainshmidt, and William Q. Judge. "Variance decomposition of the country, industry, firm, and firm-year effects on dividend policy." *International Business Review* 25, no. 6 (2016): 1309-1320.
- 19. Esqueda, Omar A. "Signaling, corporate governance, and the equilibrium dividend policy." *The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance* 59 (2016): 186-199.
- 20. Evans, David S. "The relationship between firm growth, size, and age: Estimates for 100 manufacturing industries." The journal of industrial economics (1987): 567-581.
- Fama, Eugene F., and Kenneth R. French. "Disappearing dividends: changing firm characteristics or lower propensity to pay?." *Journal of Financial economics* 60, no. 1 (2001): 3-38
- 22. French, K. R., and J. M. Poterba. "Investor diversification and international equity markets," American Economic Review 81, (1991): 222-26.
- 23. Garrett, Ian, and Richard Priestley. "Dividend behaviour and dividend signaling." *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 35, no. 02 (2000): 173-189.
- 24. Gorman, Larry R., and Bjorn Jorgensen. "Domestic versus international portfolio selection: A statistical examination of the home bias." (2015).
- 25. Grullon, Gustavo, and Roni Michaely. "Dividends, share repurchases, and the substitution hypothesis." *The Journal of Finance* 57, no. 4 (2002): 1649-1684.
- 26. Holder, Mark E., Frederick W. Langrehr, and J. Lawrence Hexter. "Dividend policy determinants: An investigation of the influences of stakeholder theory." *Financial management* (1998): 73-82.
- 27. Jabbouri, Imad. "Determinants of corporate dividend policy in emerging markets: Evidence from MENA stock markets." *Research in International Business and Finance* 37 (2016): 283-298.

- Jakob, S. H., and R. Johannes. "Dividend determinants in Denmark." Management Working Paper 3 (2008).
- 29. Jeong, Jinho. "Determinants of dividend smoothing in emerging market: The case of Korea." *Emerging markets review* 17 (2013): 76-88.
- 30. Jin, Zhenhu. "On the differential market reaction to dividend initiations." The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance 40, no. 2 (2000): 263-277.
- 31. Kao, Chihwa, and Chunchi Wu. "Tests of dividend signaling using the Marsh-Merton model: A generalized friction approach." *Journal of Business* (1994): 45-68.
- 32. Kaźmierska-Jóźwiak, Bogna. "Determinants of Dividend Policy: Evidence from Polish Listed Companies." *Procedia Economics and Finance* 23 (2015): 473-477.
- Khan, Tehmina. "Company dividends and ownership structure: Evidence from UK panel data." *The Economic Journal* 116, no. 510 (2006): C172-C189
- 34. La Porta, Rafael, Florencio Lopez de Silanes, Andrei Shleifer, and Robert W. Vishny.
 "Agency problems and dividend policies around the world." *The journal of finance* 55, no. 1 (2000): 1-33.
- 35. Leary, Mark T., and Roni Michaely. "Determinants of dividend smoothing: Empirical evidence." *Review of Financial studies* 24, no. 10 (2011): 3197-3249.
- 36. Lin, Mingfeng, and Siva Viswanathan. "Home bias in online investments: An empirical study of an online crowdfunding market." Management Science 62, no. 5 (2015): 1393-1414.
- 37. Lintner, John. "Distribution of incomes of corporations among dividends, retained earnings, and taxes." The American Economic Review 46, no. 2 (1956): 97-113.
- 38. Marsh, Terry A., and Robert C. Merton. "Dividend behavior for the aggregate stock market." Journal of Business (1987): 1-40.
- Miller, Merton H., and Kevin Rock. "Dividend policy under asymmetric information." The Journal of finance 40, no. 4 (1985): 1031-1051.
- 40. Mozes, Haim, and Donna Rapaccioli. "The relation among dividend policy, firm size, and the information content of earnings announcements." Journal of Financial Research 18, no. 1 (1995): 75-88.
- Ozkaya, H. Erkan, Chitra Dabas, Kalin Kolev, G. Tomas M. Hult, Steven H. Dahlquist, and Sonia Arun Manjeshwar. "An assessment of hierarchical linear modeling in international business, management, and marketing." International Business Review 22, no. 4 (2013): 663-677.

- 42. Papadopoulos, Dimitrios L., and Dimitrios P. Charalambidis. "Focus on present status and determinants of dividend payout policy: Athens Stock Exchange in perspective." Journal of Financial Management & Analysis 20, no. 2 (2007): 24.
- 43. Poterba, James M., and Lawrence H. Summers. "New evidence that taxes affect the valuation of dividends." *The Journal of Finance* 39, no. 5 (1984): 1397-1415.
- 44. Pruitt, Stephen W., and Lawrence J. Gitman. "The interactions between the investment, financing, and dividend decisions of major US firms." Financial review 26, no. 3 (1991): 409-430.
- 45. Ross, Stephen A. "The determination of financial structure: the incentive-signalling approach." The bell journal of economics (1977): 23-40.
- 46. Rozeff, Michael S. "Growth, beta and agency costs as determinants of dividend payout ratios." Journal of financial Research 5, no. 3 (1982): 249-259.
- 47. Sasson Bar-Yosef and Richard Kolodny. "Dividend Policy and Capital Market Theory: A Reply". The Review of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 60, No. 3 (Aug., 1978), pp. 477-478
- 48. Shao, Liang, Chuck CY Kwok, and Omrane Guedhami. "National culture and dividend policy." Journal of International Business Studies 41, no. 8 (2010): 1391-1414.
- Shenkar, Oded. "Cultural distance revisited: Towards a more rigorous conceptualization and measurement of cultural differences." Journal of international business studies 32, no. 3 (2001): 519-535.
- Wooldridge, Jeffrey M. Econometric analysis of cross section and panel data. MIT press, 2010.
- S&P Dow Jones. "S&P 500 Dividend Aristocrats." S&P Dow Jones. 02 2017. http://eu.spindices.com/indices/strategy/sp-500-dividend-aristocrats (accessed 02 20, 2017).

Internet resources

Information on U.S. taxes

- 1. http://www.dividend.com/taxes/a-brief-history-of-dividend-tax-rates/
- 2. https://taxfoundation.org/united-states-high-tax-burden-personal-dividend-income/

Information on U.K. taxes

1. http://www.hl.co.uk/tools/tax-facts

2.<u>https://www.sbs.ox.ac.uk/sites/default/files/Business_Taxation/Events/conferences/summer_conference/2015/harris-slides.pdf</u>

- 3. http://www.theaic.co.uk/sites/default/files/AICTaxationofDividendsConsumerguide.pdf
- 4. http://www.ukbudget.com/files/tax-rates-2011-12.pdf
- 5. https://www.gov.uk/tax-on-dividends/how-dividends-are-taxed

Appendices

Appendix 1. Taxes

Table 1.1

Personal dividend tax rates in the U.S.

2003 -	- 2007	2008 - 2012		2013 -	- 2016
Ordinary	Qualified	Ordinary	Qualified	Ordinary	Qualified
Dividend	Dividend	Dividend	Dividend	Dividend	Dividend
Tax Rate	Tax Rate	Tax Rate	Tax Rate	Tax Rate	Tax Rate
10%	5%	10%	0%	10%	0%
15%	5%	15%	0%	15%	0%
25%	15%	25%	15%	25%	15%
28%	15%	28%	15%	28%	15%
33%	15%	33%	15%	33%	15%
35%	15%	35%	15%	35%	15%
5570	1370	5570	1370	39.6%	20%

Table 1.2

Personal dividend tax rates in the U.K.

Band/year	2003-2009	2010-2012	2013-2016
Basic rate (and non-taxpayers)	10%	10%	10%
Higher rate	10%	32.5%	32.5%
Additional rate	32.5%	42.5%	37.5%

Table 1.3 OECD overall dividend tax rate (PIT+CIT rate)

	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
	47,5%	47,5%	47,5%	47,5%	47,5%	46,0%	46,0%	54,0%	52,7%	51,4%
U.K.	2013	2014	20015	2016		I	I	I	I	I
	46,5%	45,1%	44,4%	50,5%						
	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
	51,9%	52,0%	52,0%	52,1%	52,0%	52,0%	52,0%	52,2%	52,1%	52,1%
U.S.	2013	2014	20015	2016		1	1	1	1	1
	56,5%	56,5%	56,4%	56,3%						

Appendix 2. Industry classifications

Industry	Supersector	Sector	Subsector
		0530 Oil & Gas Producers	0533 Exploration & Production
0001 Oil & Gas	0500 Oil & Gas		0537 Integrated Oil & Gas
		0570 Oil Equipment, Services &	0573 Oil Equipment & Services
		Distribution	0577 Pipelines
		0580 Alternative Energy	0583 Renewable Energy Equipment
			0587 Alternative Fuels
	1300 Chemicals 1700 Basic Resources	1350 Chemicals	1353 Commodity Chemicals
			1357 Specialty Chemicals
		1730 Forestry & Paper	1733 Forestry
			1737 Paper
		1750 Industrial Metals & Mining	1753 Aluminum
1000 Basic Materials			1755 Nonferrous Metals
			1757 Iron & Steel
			1771 Coal
		1770 Mining	1773 Diamonds & Gemstones
			1775 General Mining
			1777 Gold Mining
			1779 Platinum & Precious Metals

Table 2.1. ICB Code industry classification according to Industrial Classification Benchmark.

	2300 Construction &	2350 Construction &	2353 Building Materials & Fixtures
			2357 Heavy Construction
		2710 Aerospace & Defense	2713 Aerospace
			2717 Defense
		2720 General	2723 Containers & Packaging
		Industrials	2727 Diversified Industrials
	2700 Industrial	2730 Electronic & Electrical Equipment	2733 Electrical Components & Equipment
	Goods & Services		2737 Electronic Equipment
		2750 Industrial Engineering	2753 Commercial Vehicles & Trucks
2000 Industrials			2757 Industrial Machinery
		2770 Industrial Transportation	2771 Delivery Services
			2773 Marine Transportation
			2775 Railroads
			2777 Transportation Services
			2779 Trucking
			2791 Business Support Services
		2790 Support Services	2793 Business Training & Employment Agencies
			Administration
			Suppliers
			2799 Waste & Disposal Services

	3300 Automobiles &	3350 Automobiles &	3353 Automobiles
	Parts	Parts	3355 Auto Parts
			3357 Tires
		3530 Bayaragas	3533 Brewers
		5550 Develages	3535 Distillers & Vintners
			3537 Soft Drinks
			3573 Farming & Fishing
		3570 Food Producers	3577 Food Products
3000 Consumer	3700 Personal & Household Goods	3720 Household Goods & Home Construction	3722 Durable Household Products
Goods			3724 Nondurable Household Products
			3726 Furnishings
			3728 Home Construction
		3740 Leisure Goods	3743 Consumer Electronics
			3745 Recreational Products
			3747 Toys
			3763 Clothing & Accessories
		3760 Personal Goods	3765 Footwear
			3767 Personal Products
		3780 Tobacco	3785 Tobacco

		4530 Health Care	4533 Health Care Providers
	4500 Health Care	Equipment & Services	4535 Medical Equipment
4000 Health Care			4537 Medical Supplies
		4570 Pharmaceuticals	4573 Biotechnology
		& Biotechnology	4577 Pharmaceuticals
		5330 Food & Drug	5333 Drug Retailers
		Retailers	5337 Food Retailers & Wholesalers
	5300 Retail		5371 Apparel Retailers
		5370 General Retailers	5373 Broadline Retailers
			5375 Home Improvement Retailers
			5377 Specialized Consumer Services
			5379 Specialty Retailers
5000 Consumer	5500 Media	5550 Media	5553 Broadcasting & Entertainment
Services			5555 Media Agencies
			5557 Publishing
			5751 Airlines
	5700 Travel &	5750 Travel & Leigure	5752 Gambling
	Leisure	5750 Haver & Leisure	5753 Hotels
			5755 Recreational Services
			5757 Restaurants & Bars
			5759 Travel & Tourism

6000	6500 T. I.	6530 Fixed Line Telecommunications	6535 Fixed Line Telecommunications
Telecommunications	Telecommunications	6570 Mobile Telecommunications	6575 Mobile Telecommunications
		7530 Electricity	7535 Conventional Electricity
	7500 Utilities		7537 Alternative Electricity
7000 Utilities		7570 Cos Water &	7573 Gas Distribution
		Multiutilities	7575 Multiutilities
			7577 Water
	8300 Banks	8350 Banks	8355 Banks
		8530 Nonlife Insurance	8532 Full Line Insurance
	8500 Insurance		8534 Insurance Brokers
			8536 Property & Casualty Insurance
			8538 Reinsurance
		8570 Life Insurance	8575 Life Insurance
8000 Financials		8630 Real Estate	8633 Real Estate Holding & Development
	8600 Real Estate		8637 Real Estate Services
		8670 Real Estate	8671 Industrial & Office REITs
		Investment Trusts	8672 Retail REITs
			8673 Residential REITs
			8674 Diversified REITs
			8675 Specialty REITs

			8676 Mortgage REITs
			8677 Hotel & Lodging REITs
			8771 Asset Managers
		8770 Financial Services	8773 Consumer Finance
	8700 Financial Services		8775 Specialty Finance
			8777 Investment Services
			8779 Mortgage Finance
		8980 Equity Investment	8985 Equity Investment
		8990 Nonequity Investment	8995 Nonequity Investment
		9530 Software & Computer Services	9533 Computer Services
		Company Service	9535 Internet
	9500 Technology		9537 Software
9000 Technology		0570 Tashualasa	9572 Computer Hardware
		Hardware & Equipment	9574 Electronic Office Equipment
			9576 Semiconductors
			9578 Telecommunications Equipment

Appendix 3. USD/GBP annual exchange rates

	1990	1991	1992	1993	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998
	1,784	1,767	1,766	1,501	1,531	1,578	1,560	1,637	1,657
USD	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007
/ GBP	1,617	1,514	1,440	1,499	1,635	1,832	1,820	1,842	2,001
	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
	1,855	1,565	1,545	1,604	1,584	1,564	1,647	1,528	1,355

Source: www.xe.com

- 1. 3M Company
- 2. AFLAC Inc.
- 3. AbbVie Inc.
- 4. Abbott Laboratories
- 5. Air Products & Chemicals Inc
- 6. Archer-Daniels-Midland Co
- 7. AT&T
- 8. Automatic Data Processing
- 9. C. R. Bard
- 10. Becton Dickinson
- 11. Bemis Company
- 12. Brown-Forman
- 13. Cardinal Health Inc.
- 14. Chevron Corp.
- 15. Cincinnati Financial Corp
- 16. Cintas Corp
- 17. The Clorox Company
- 18. Coca-Cola Company
- 19. Colgate-Palmolive
- 20. Consolidated Edison Inc
- 21. Dover Corp
- 22. Ecolab Inc
- 23. Emerson Electric
- 24. Exxon Mobil Corp
- 25. Federal Realty Investment Trust
- 26. Franklin Resources
- 27. General Dynamics
- 28. Genuine Parts Company
- 29. W. W. Grainger
- 30. Hormel Foods Corp
- 31. Illinois Tool Works
- 32. Johnson & Johnson
- 33. Kimberly-Clark
- 34. Leggett & Platt
- 35. Lowe's Companies, Inc.
- 36. McCormick & Company
- 37. McDonald's
- 38. Medtronic
- 39. Nucor
- 40. PPG Industries
- 41. PepsiCo
- 42. Pentair
- 43. Procter & Gamble
- 44. S&P Global (formerly McGraw Hill Financial, Inc.
- 45. Sherwin-Williams
- 46. Stanley Black & Decker Inc.
- 47. Sysco

- 48.
- 49. 50. 51. 52.

- T. Rowe Price Target Corporation VF Corporation Walmart Walgreen Boots Alliance

Table 5.1. Influence of previous year net income and cash on R&D expenses

R-sq:	within	= 0.1084			Obs per g	roup:	min =	2
	between	= 0.5616					avg =	5.7
	overall	= 0.2528					max =	6
						(2)		
					Wald chi2	(2)	=	11.35
corr(u_	<u>i,</u> X)	= 0 (assume		Prob > chi2 =			0.0034	
	RD	Coef.	Std. Err.	Z	P> z	[95%	Conf.	Interval]
	lNI	.0073938	.0031188	2.37	0.018	.0012	2811	.0135065
	lcash	0393582	.0146588	-2.68	0.007	0680	9889	0106274
	_cons	145112.9	32634.99	4.45	0.000	81149	9.52	209076.3

Table 5.2. Influence of current year net income and cash on R&D expenses

R-sq:	within	=	0.0277	0bs	per	group:	min	=	2
	between	=	0.5062				avg	=	6.6
	overall	=	0.3905				max	=	7
				Wald	d chi	i2(2)		=	1.64
corr(u_	_i, X)	=	0 (assumed)	Prob) > (chi2		=	0.4414

RD	Coef.	Std. Err.	Z	P> z	[95% Conf.	Interval]
NI	.0046693	.0051069	0.91	0.361	0053401	.0146787
cash	.0159444	.024546	0.65	0.516	0321649	.0640537
_cons	123011.2	30200.59	4.07	0.000	63819.12	182203.3

				Table 5.3.	Regression i	results for the I	Britis	h Co	mpanies
R-sq:	within	=	0.2096		0	bs per group:	min	=	2
	between	=	0.7274				avg	=	5.4
	overall	=	0.3939				max	=	6
					W	ald chi2(11)		=	124.80
corr(u	_i, X)	=	0 (assumed)		Р	rob > chi2		=	0.0000

payout	Coef.	Std. Err.	Z	P> z	[95% Conf.	Interval]
NInorm	-23.94733	5.252471	-4.56	0.000	-34.24198	-13.65267
RDnorm	6.304322	4.632877	1.36	0.174	-2.775951	15.38459
Cashnorm	4.715951	4.353784	1.08	0.279	-3.81731	13.24921
DE	.0398184	.0318667	1.25	0.211	0226393	.102276
TAnorm	17.71304	6.771748	2.62	0.009	4.440657	30.98542
Tax	7151893	.3404553	-2.10	0.036	-1.382469	0479092
lpayout	.4723508	.0620725	7.61	0.000	.3506909	.5940106
g	.6283911	3.491001	0.18	0.857	-6.213846	7.470628
age	0643497	.1403791	-0.46	0.647	3394877	.2107883
age2	.0006131	.0009979	0.61	0.539	0013427	.0025689
Industry	.7452939	.6401449	1.16	0.244	509367	1.999955
_cons	52.89967	17.91964	2.95	0.003	17.77781	88.02152
_						

Table 5.4. Regression results for American companies

R-sq:	within	=	0.2838	Obs	per	group:	min	=	1
	between	=	0.7925				avg	=	4.7
	overall	=	0.5835				max	=	6
				Wal	.d chi	.2(9)		=	645.92
corr(u	ı_i, X)	=	0 (assumed)	Pro	ob > c	hi2		=	0.0000

payout	Coef.	Std. Err.	Z	P> z	[95% Conf.	Interval]
NInorm	-30.20714	3.007231	-10.04	0.000	-36.10121	-24.31308
RDnorm	6.299428	2.356914	2.67	0.008	1.679961	10.91889
Cashnorm	-38305.37	145653.1	-0.26	0.793	-323780.1	247169.4
DE	.0231812	.0130905	1.77	0.077	0024757	.0488381
Tax	43.8192	29.7217	1.47	0.140	-14.43426	102.0727
lpayout	.669276	.0316289	21.16	0.000	.6072845	.7312675
g	-2.684622	4.140233	-0.65	0.517	-10.79933	5.430085
age	.0567012	.0600502	0.94	0.345	060995	.1743973
age2	0001996	.0004358	-0.46	0.647	0010538	.0006546
_cons	4.552995	15.62442	0.29	0.771	-26.0703	35.17629

Table 5.5. Regression results for Dividend Aristocrats

R-sq:	within	=	0.3978	0bs	per	group:	min	=	2
	between	=	0.6521				avg	=	5.1
	overall	=	0.4484				max	=	6
				Wald	d chi	2(8)		=	51.11
corr(u	_i, X)	=	0 (assumed)	Prob	o > c	:hi2		=	0.0000

payout	Coef.	Std. Err.	Z	P> z	[95% Conf.	Interval]
logNI	-7.4828	3.144548	-2.38	0.017	-13.646	-1.319599
lpayout	. 5279229	.1173852	4.50	0.000	.2978521	.7579937
logRD	1.909704	1.7987	1.06	0.288	-1.615684	5.435091
logWC	-2.387887	2.118963	-1.13	0.260	-6.540979	1.765205
logCash	2.910849	1.636949	1.78	0.075	2975114	6.119209
DE	.0252512	.0406156	0.62	0.534	054354	.1048563
g	3.37376	3.236489	1.04	0.297	-2.969642	9.717162
Tax	107.6067	58.23744	1.85	0.065	-6.536568	221.75
_cons	32.90389	43.51582	0.76	0.450	-52.38556	118.1933
<u> </u>	<u> </u>					•••••